
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

Terrence Bressi, 

Plaintiff, 

vs.

Michael Ford, Eric O’Dell, George
Traviolia, and Richard Saunders, 

Defendants. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

No. CV-04-264 TUC JMR

ORDER

Pending is Defendants Michael Ford, Eric O'Dell, George Traviolia, and Richard

Saunders' motion for summary judgment filed August 22, 2006.  For the reasons discussed

below, this motion is granted.

 I.  Procedural Background

On December 20, 2002, Defendants, officers of the Tohono O’odham Police

Department, stopped Plaintiff at a roadblock/checkpoint on a highway running through the

Tohono O’odham Nation.  Defendants detained and questioned Plaintiff, and then arrested

and cited him for violations of Arizona law.  Plaintiff filed this case against Defendants

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and state law. 

On September 27, 2005, the Court granted Defendants' motion to dismiss the § 1983

claims relating to the roadblock, stop, questioning, and detention of Plaintiff, clothing the

Defendants with tribal sovereign immunity for those actions.   The Court allowed Plaintiff

to continue pursuit of his  § 1983 claims for the citation and arrest, injunctive relief for future

roadblocks, and his Arizona constitutional claim for privacy. On August 22, 2006,
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Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment in regard to these remaining claims.

 The Court finds that the pending motion can be decided without further oral

argument, based on the extensive filings of the parties.

II.  Factual Background

The general background to these claims is described in the third amended complaint

and in the Court’s previous orders. More specific facts, however, are presented in the parties’

various motions, responses and replies.  The third amended complaint alleges that on

December 20, 2002, Plaintiff was driving on Arizona State Route 86 through the Tohono

O’odham Nation when Defendants Michael Ford, George Traviola, and Eric O’Dell—all

Tohono O’odham Police Department officers—stopped him and several other vehicles at a

roadblock.  Plaintiff argued the constitutionality of the roadblock with Defendants, who

realized that Plaintiff was not a drunk driver.  When Defendants requested Plaintiff’s

identification papers, he refused to produce them.  Defendants arrested Plaintiff and cited him

for violations of A.R.S. § 28-1595(B) (failure to provide driver license or evidence of

identity) and A.R.S. § 28-622(A) (failure to comply with police officer).

Under tribal law, roadblocks to check for sobriety, driver’s licenses, and registration

are permitted, as are roadblocks to search for possession of alcohol, which is prohibited in

much of the Tohono O’odham Nation.  Nation v. Ahill, et al., No. CR12-1762-88 (Jud. Ct.

Tohono O’odham Nation Oct. 23, 1989).  Defendants are authorized to enforce tribal law

against Indians affiliated with any tribe, and to investigate for violations of state and federal

law.  Although tribal law does not authorize enforcement of state or federal law, it does

authorize Defendants to eject such violators from tribal boundaries or turn them over to state

Case 4:04-cv-00264-JMR     Document 124      Filed 03/28/2007     Page 2 of 15

Terry
Under tribal law, roadblocks to check for sobriety, driver’s licenses, and registrationare permitted, as are roadblocks to search for possession of alcohol, which is prohibited inmuch of the Tohono O’odham Nation.

Terry
Although tribal law does not authorize enforcement of state or federal law, it doesauthorize Defendants to eject such violators from tribal boundaries or turn them over to state



3

or federal custody.  The State of Arizona certified Defendants to enforce Arizona law.   The

State also issues driver’s licenses and registrations to tribal members.

Defendant Tohono O’odham Chief of Police Richard Saunders ordered Defendants

to conduct the December 20, 2002, roadblock in order to check for sobriety and other tribal

violations.  Arizona officials were not involved in the planning or execution of the roadblock.

During the roadblock, Defendants stopped vehicles, questioned drivers to determine

whether they were drunk, and requested identification papers.  Defendants would ask all

stopped drivers the same questions.  Defendants cited tribal members into tribal court, and

non-Indians violating Arizona law into Pima County Justice Court at Ajo pursuant to

Defendants’ Arizona certification.  When federal violations were uncovered, Defendants

referred them to federal officials.

Plaintiff claims that his civil rights were violated when Defendants Ford, O'Dell,

Traviolia, and Saunders seized his person and vehicle without reasonable suspicion pursuant

to a roadblock that did not satisfy constitutional requirements.  Plaintiff further alleges that

these Defendants continued to act in an unconstitutional manner upon receiving information

from Plaintiff.  He requests damages in the amount of $50,000 to compensate him for the

alleged violation of his civil rights and an injunction enjoining Defendants from violating

federal and state laws.  

Defendants  Ford, O'Dell, Traviolia, and Saunders move for summary judgment on

the following grounds: (1) Defendants have qualified immunity for Plaintiff's claims against

them under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 with regard to the arrest and citation of the Plaintiff for state

law violations; (2) there is no basis for any § 1983 finding against Defendant Saunders,
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because he was neither at the checkpoint nor directed the arrest and citation on the grounds

issued; (3) Defendants did not violate Plaintiff's right to privacy under Art. 2, § 8 of the

Arizona constitution; and (4) Plaintiff's request for a permanent injunction should be denied

because his claims fail on the merits.

III. Legal Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue as to a material fact

and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); Celotex

Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).  The initial burden rests on the moving party to

demonstrate the absence of any genuine issue of material fact.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); Celotex,

477 U.S. at 323.  Once satisfied, the burden shifts to the non-moving party to demonstrate

through production of probative evidence that an issue of fact remains.  Celotex, 477 U.S.

at 323-24.  The Court must accept the non-movant's evidence as true and view all inferences

in the light most favorable to the non-movant.  Eisenberg v. Insurance Co. of North America,

815 F.2d 1285, 1289 (9th Cir. 1987). 

The requirement that an issue be “genuine” relates to the quantum of evidence the

plaintiff must produce to defeat the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.  Nidds v.

Schindler Elevator Corporation, 113 F.3d 912, 916 (9th Cir. 1997).  There must be sufficient

evidence “that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.” Anderson

v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).  The opposing party may not rest upon the

mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but must set forth specific facts showing a

genuine issue for trial. Id.

IV. Legal Analysis
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A.  42 U.S.C. § 1983 & Qualified Immunity

1. Legal Standard

  To recover damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiff must prove by a

preponderance of the evidence that the Defendants deprived him of his constitutional rights

while acting under color of state law.  Tatum v. City and County of San Francisco, 441 F.3d

1090, 1094 (9th Cir. 2006).1   However, police officers generally enjoy a qualified immunity

from liability under § 1983 for their discretionary actions if their conduct does not violate

clearly established rights.  Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818-19 (1982).   The Court,

not a jury, settles the ultimate question of qualified immunity because the privilege is

immunity from suit rather than a mere defense to liability.  Johnson v. County of Los Angeles,

340 F.3d 787, 791 (9th Cir. 2003). 

The requisites of a qualified immunity defense should be considered in proper

sequence.  Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 200 (2001).  First, the Court is to determine, in a

light most favorable to the party asserting the injury, whether the alleged facts show that the

officer's conduct violated a constitutional right.  Id. at 201.  If the alleged facts show that no

constitutional right has been violated, there is no reason for further inquiries concerning

qualified immunity.  Id.  Johnson, 340 F.3d at 793-94.  

However, if a violation could be made out from the allegations, the next question is

whether the right violated was clearly established.  Saucier, 533 U.S. at 201-02.  The
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contours of the right must be sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand

that what he was doing violates that right.  Id. at 202. "If the law did not put the officer on

notice that his conduct would be clearly unlawful, summary judgment based on qualified

immunity is appropriate."  Id. at 202.  See Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986)

(qualified immunity protects "all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate

the law").  If the right was not clearly established, the qualified immunity doctrine shields

the officer from further litigation.  Saucier, 533 U.S. at 201-02. The accommodation for

reasonable error exists because "officials should not err always on the side of caution" for

fear of being sued.  Davis v. Scherer, 468 U.S. 183, 196 (1984).  

2.  Legal Analysis

a.  Constitutionality of the citation and arrest

i.  Probable Cause

Probable cause exists when, at the time of the incident, the officer has reasonably

trustworthy information sufficient to warrant a prudent person in believing that the accused

had committed or was committing an offense.  Easyriders Fredom F.I.G.H.T. v. Hannigan,

92 F.3d 1486, 1498 (9th Cir. 1996).  An officer who observes criminal conduct may arrest

the offender without a warrant, even if the pertinent offense carries only a minor penalty.

Tatum,  441 F.3d at 1094.  Further, a police officer's subjective reason for making the arrest

need not be the criminal offense for which the known facts provide probable cause.  Id. 

Courts look to the totality of the circumstances known to the officers in determining whether

there is probable cause for an arrest.  United States v. Butler, 74 F.3d 916, 920 (9th Cir.

1996). 
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regulate traffic."  

3The result is the same under Arizona law for probable cause.  Under Arizona law,
"[p]robable cause is a reasonable ground of suspicion, supported by circumstances sufficient to
warrant an ordinarily prudent man in believing the accused is guilty of the offense.  The test
generally applies is whether, upon appearances presented to the defendant, a reasonably prudent man
would have instituted or continued the proceeding."  Slade v. City of Phoenix, 112 Ariz. 298, 301,
541 P.2d 550, 553 (1975).  

4Plaintiff does not appear to dispute that probable cause existed to cite and arrest Plaintiff
under state law.  He appears to argue only that the checkpoint itself was illegal, tainting all
subsequent acts for § 1983 purposes.
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Here, probable cause to arrest and cite Plaintiff arose under two Arizona state

misdemeanor offenses for failure to produce his driver's license in violation of A.R.S. 28-

1595(B) and for refusing a lawful order to move his vehicle to the side of the road in

violation of 28-622(A).2  The existence of probable cause is established by the clear failure

of Plaintiff to (1) present his driver's license on demand of the officer, and (2) move or exit

his vehicle as directed by the officer.  Accordingly, no constitutional right was violated in

the citation and arrest of Plaintiff.3

Plaintiff, however, argues that such probable cause is rendered ineffective because the

probable cause arose subsequent to an alleged illegal stop under the Fourth Amendment of

the United States Constitution.4 

ii.  Effect of Tribal Immunity

Previously, this Court found that the checkpoint, stop, questioning and detention of
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Plaintiff were conducted pursuant to tribal law, clothing the Defendants with tribal immunity

for those actions.  However, Plaintiff argues that the roadblock was illegally operated, and

therefore, there can be no probable cause for the subsequent arrest and citation of Plaintiff,

even though Defendants are immune from liability for the roadblock.  

Plaintiff's argument is based on an analogy drawn from the "fruit of the poisonous

tree" doctrine holding that evidence obtained following an illegal action by police is

inadmissible unless intervening events break the chain of causation.  See, e.g., United States

v. DiCesare, 765 F.2d 890, 899 (9th Cir. 1985) ("[T]he acquisition of probable cause during

an unlawful seizure does not cure the illegality and does not constitute an independent source

of probable cause.")  For the following reasons, this Court rejects such an analogy in this

case.

First, Defendants have not been found liable for making an illegal stop because this

Court granted Defendants tribal immunity in regard to the roadblock, stop, questioning, and

detention of Plaintiff. The exclusionary rule has never been applied to exclude the

introduction of evidence against persons other than the one whose rights were violated.

Therefore, liability against Defendants should not be imposed without first establishing that

the individual rights of Plaintiff were violated. 

However, holding Defendants liable for the roadblock, stop, questioning and detention

of Plaintiff would be tantamount to holding Defendants liable for a violation of the Indian

Civil Rights Act ("ICRA"), 25 U.S.C.A. § 1301 et seq.,5 which must be determined by a
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alleging deprivation of constitutional rights under color of tribal law.  R.J. Williams Co. v. Fort
Belknap Housing Authority, 719 F.2d 979, 982 (9th Cir. 1983).   Actions taken under color of tribal
law are beyond reach of § 1983, and may only be examined in federal court under the provisions of
the ICRA.  Id.
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tribal court in the first instance.  In National Farmers Union Insurance Co. v. Crow Tribe of

Indians, 471 U.S. 845, 856-57 (1985), the Supreme Court stated: 

Congress is committed to a policy of supporting tribal self-government and self -
determination.  That policy favors a rule that will provide the forum whose
jurisdiction is being challenged the first opportunity to evaluate the factual and legal
bases for the challenge.  Moreover, the orderly administration of justice in the federal
court will be served by allowing a full record to be developed in the Tribal Court
before either the merits or any question concerning appropriate relief is addressed.
The risks of ...'procedural nightmare[s]' ... will be minimized if the federal court stays
its hand.  

See also, R.J. Williams Co. v. Fort Belknap Housing Authority, 719 F.2d 979, 981-82 (9th

Cir. 1983); Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez, 436 U.S. 49 (1978) (foreclosing reading of

ICRA as authority for bringing civil actions in federal court to request forms of relief other

than habeas corpus).

Further, holding Defendants liable for the roadblock, stop, questioning and detention

of Plaintiff circumvents Defendant's tribal immunity.  Indian tribes are immune from suit in

state or federal court because they are sovereigns pre-dating the Constitution, and immunity

is thought necessary to preserve autonomous tribal existence.  United States v. United States

Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 309 U.S. 506, 512-13 (1940); U.S. v. Oregon, 657 F.2d 1009.

Tribal immunity is necessary to promote the federal policies of tribal self-determination,

economic development, and cultural autonomy. Chemehuevi Indian Tribe v. California Bd.

of Equalization, 757 F.2d 1047, 1051 (9th Cir. 1981) rev'd on other gnds, 474 U.S. 9 (1985).
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See generally Note, In Defense of Tribal Sovereign Immunity, 95 Harv. L. Rev. 1058 (1982).6

This immunity also extends to tribal officials when acting in their official capacity and within

their scope of authority.  Linneen v. Gila River Indian Cmty., 276 F.3d 489, 492 (9th Cir.

2002).  Plaintiff's argument abrogates the tribal official's immunity, contradicting the well-

established policies on which the doctrine of tribal immunity is based. 

Plaintiff cannot base his § 1983 action on the roadblock itself, this Court having found

qualified immunity applicable to that roadblock.  

b.  Was the right clearly established? 

Probable cause existed to cite and arrest Plaintiff under state law.  Accordingly, no

constitutional right was violated.   However, Plaintiff alleges that the previous allegedly

unconstitutional stop renders such probable cause ineffective.   Even if this was the case, this

concept was not clearly established in law at the time of Plaintiff's arrest and citation. 

Application of qualified immunity is judged by examining the case from the

perspective of a reasonable police officer.  Saucier, 533 U.S. at 205.  The appropriate inquiry

is whether reasonable officers could have believed their conduct lawful under the clearly

established principles of law governing that conduct.  Alexander v. County of Los Angeles,

64 F.3d 1315, 1319 (9th Cir. 1995).   The legal rule in question must be defined in a specific

manner.  Id.  Accordingly, the question at issue is whether a reasonable police officer,  who
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has authority under tribal law for the roadblock, stopping, questioning and detention of a

plaintiff, would know that any subsequent arrest and citation of such plaintiff under state law

would be unconstitutional, though otherwise based on probable cause.

  A state highway right-of-way through an Indian reservation remains part of the

reservation and within the territorial jurisdiction of the tribal police, and the tribal police may

patrol for tribal, state and federal violations, and detain persons to hand over to the

appropriate authority.  Strate v. A-1 Contractors, 520 U.S. 438, 456, n. 11 (1997); Oritz-

Barraza v. U.S., 512 F.2d 1176 (9th Cir. 1975). Although tribal law does not authorize

enforcement of state or federal law, in this case, the State of Arizona had certified Defendants

to enforce Arizona law.   

Any violation that occurred here would not have been clear to an objectively

reasonable officer. The tribal officers were acting within the scope of their authority when

they stopped Plaintiff.  When the officers began to act under state law, they had clear

probable cause based on Plaintiff's admitted unwillingness to show his license or move his

vehicle.  Also, there is no case law addressing the constitutionality of the situation involved

in this case. "[O]fficials are not liable for bad guesses in gray areas; they are liable for

transgressing bright lines."  Maciariello v. Sumner, 973 F.2d 295, 298 (4th Cir. 1992).).

In conclusion, Plaintiff's attempt to extend an alleged violation of the ICRA to

subsequent acts for which there was probable cause, where the alleged wrongful act is one

for which there can be no §1983 damages, and which is under tribal sovereign immunity, is

rejected. 

B. Saunders
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Plaintiff alleges that Defendant Saunders is liable under § 1983 because he is Chief

of Tohono O'odham Police Department ("TOPD") who is ultimately responsible for setting

policy for the department, including guidelines for the operation of roadblocks.  However,

as explained above, the constitutionality of the roadblock is not at issue in this case.  At issue

is the constitutionality of the arrest and citation of Plaintiff.

Defendant Saunders alleges that, even if the arrest and citation were unconstitutional,

Saunders cannot be found liable under § 1983 because respondeat superior is not a basis to

recover under § 1983; there must be personal involvement.  Monell v. Dept. of Social

Services of City of New York, 436 U.S. 658, 690, n. 55, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 L.Ed.2d 611

(1978); Jones v. Williams, 297 F.3d 930, 934 (9th Cir. 2002).  A supervisor is only liable if

he participated in or directed the violations or knew of the violations and failed to act to

prevent them.  Taylor v. List, 880 F.2d 1040, 1045 (9th Cir. 1989).  

Saunders was not at the checkpoint on December 20, 2002, and did not know of,

participate in, nor direct the arrest and citation of Plaintiff.  Saunders was the acting chief

who originally requested that a checkpoint be conducted.  This Court has dismissed Plaintiff's

claims based on the checkpoint itself.   Accordingly, in addition to the reasons articulated

previously, Defendant Saunders could not be found liable under section 1983. 

C. Arizona constitutional claim for privacy

Plaintiff also claims that the Defendants' actions violated his right of privacy under

Art. 2, s. 8 of the Arizona Constitution.  

Art. 2, § 8 of the Arizona Constitution states: "No person shall be disturbed in his

private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."  Arizona applies an objective
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test to alleged violated of Art. 2, § 8.  State v. Jeney, 163 Ariz. 293, 295-297 , 787 P.2d 1089,

1091-93 (App. 1989).  Under that objective analysis, the Defendants acted with the authority

of law in the arrest and citation of Plaintiff because they had probable cause, as explained

above.  Therefore, they did not violate Plaintiff's right to privacy under Art. 2 § 8 of the

Arizona Constitution. 

D. Injunctive Relief 

Plaintiff seeks a permanent injunction against the Defendants ordering the Defendants

not to violate his rights on the state highway and when enforcing state or federal law.

 Injunctive relief stands in equity, and is available only to a party who can demonstrate

that his remedy at law is inadequate.  Stanley v. University of Southern California, 13 F.3d

1313, 1320 (9th Cir. 1994). Under both federal and state law, no permanent injunction may

issue where plaintiff has failed on the merits of his case. Amoco Production Co. v. Village

of Gambell, AK, 480 U.S. 531, 546, n. 12 (1987); Smith v. Coronado Foothills Estates

Homeowners Association, Inc., 117 Ariz. 171, 172 (1977).  Qualified immunity does not bar

actions for injunctive relief.  Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 806 (1982). 

It appears that Plaintiff seeks to enjoin Defendants regarding state and federal law, not

tribal law, so there is no reason to deal with the legality of any injunction regarding future

checkpoints  to the extent they are conducted under tribal authority.  Even if Plaintiff sought

to enjoin Defendants regarding tribal law, the tribal court is given jurisdiction over these

claims in the first instance pursuant to the ICRA.  Santa Clara Pueblo v. Martinez, 436 U.S.

49, 72 (1978) (ICRA does not subject tribes or tribal officers to the jurisdiction of the federal

courts in civil actions for injunctive relief, absent clear congressional intent to permit such
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additional intrusion).

With regard to state and federal law, Plaintiff has failed to show any constitutional

violation.  Because Plaintiff can show no constitutional deprivation on the merits, the

permanent injunction request is denied. 

V.  Conclusion

The checkpoint at issue was conducted under tribal law.  Therefore, no § 1983 claim

can exist based on the checkpoint.  Probable cause existed to cite and arrest Plaintiff under

state law, and there was no violation of the Arizona constitution.  Even if a constitutional

right was violated, it was not "clearly established."  Because Plaintiff can show no

constitutional deprivation on the merits, the permanent injunction request is denied.  

Accordingly, 

IT IS ORDERED that Defendants Michael Ford, Eric O'Dell, George Traviolia, and

Richard Saunders' motion for summary judgment [Doc. # 80] is GRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant's request for a new scheduling

conference order [Doc # 73] is denied as MOOT, as a new scheduling conference was

ordered on June 1, 2006.

DATED this 27th day of March, 2007.
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